HDRN Canada

Public Trust, Literacy and Health Data Foundations in Canada

A Foundational Paper

Julia Burt MSc, RD HDRN Canada | Memorial University of Newfoundland

Catherine Street BPharm Hons HDRN Canada | Memorial University of Newfoundland

Jannath Naveed BSc Hons HDRN Canada | Memorial University of Newfoundland

Kimberlyn McGrail PhD HDRN Canada | University of British Columbia

March 2025



Également disponible en français sous le titre: Confiance du public dans les données de santé et maîtrise et fondements des données sur la santé au Canada.

To obtain additional information, please contact: communications@hdrn.ca

© Health Data Research Network Canada

Publication date: March 2025

This publication may be reproduced for personal or internal use only without permission provided the source is fully acknowledged.

Suggested citation: Burt J, Street C, Naveed J, McGrail KM. Public Trust, Literacy and Health Data Foundations in Canada: A Foundational Paper. Health Data Research Network Canada; 2025.



Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
List of Acronyms	3
Key Messages	4
Introduction	5
Contents of this paper	6
Approach	6
Section 1: Building the Foundation: Understanding Trust and Data Literacy	8
Understanding trust	8
Measuring trust	10
The relationship between trust and health data literacy	10
Trust, literacy and health equity	12
Section 2: Trust Comes From Trustworthy Practice	14
Putting people at the centre	14
Commitment to Indigenous data sovereignty	15
Organizing data sharing, access and use	18
Health data and public benefit	20
Technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless	22
Transparency, communications, and learning	23
Recommendations for trustworthy practice	23
Section 3: Benefits, Risks and Protections of Health Data	25
Benefits of health data sharing and use	25
Risks of health data sharing and use	25
Trustworthy practices	28
Final Thoughts, Including Who Should Be Involved	36
Appendix A: Methods	38
Appendix B: Trustworthy Practices and Alignment with Charter Principles	40
References	41



Acknowledgements

This report was developed by Health Data Research Network Canada (HDRN Canada) in collaboration with colleagues from the Public Health Agency of Canada.

HDRN Canada would also like to acknowledge the following individuals and groups whose feedback contributed to the development of this paper:

- Federal, Provincial and Territorial Public Trust & Data Literacy Working Group;
- HDRN Canada's Public Advisory Council, Public Engagement Working Group and Leads Team;
- Participants of focus groups and interviews; and
- Brian Cho, Frank Gavin, Maureen Kelly, Samantha Meyer, Kieran O'Doherty, Alies Maybee, Louise Binder, Nicole Armos, Jonathan Dewar and the First Nations Information Governance Centre (FNIGC).

Please note that the content in this report does not necessarily reflect the views or opinions of any of the individuals or groups mentioned above.

Funding was provided by the Public Health Agency of Canada.

Land acknowledgement

We acknowledge that the activities of Health Data Research Network Canada take place on the traditional, ancestral, ceded and unceded territories of First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples across Canada. Our commitment to advancing Indigenous rights and interests informs development of this paper and all work of our Network.

Please note: Words in **bold** are defined in a glossary that accompanies this paper.



List of Acronyms

AI: Artificial intelligence

- CARE: Collective benefit, Authority to Control, Responsibility, Ethics
- CHIMA: Canadian Health Information Management Association
- CIHI: Canadian Institute for Health Information
- EGAP: Engagement, Governance, Access, and Protection
- FAIR: Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, Reusable
- FNIGC: First Nations Information Governance Centre
- FPT: Federal/provincial/territorial
- FPTI: Federal/provincial/territorial/Indigenous
- GPDPR: The General Practice Data for Planning & Research initiative
- HDRN Canada: Health Data Research Network Canada
- IAP2: International Association for Public Participation
- IQ: Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit
- MCHP: Manitoba Centre for Health Policy
- MMF: Manitoba Métis Federation
- NHS: National Health Service
- NIST: US National Institute for Standards and Technology
- OCAP®: Ownership, Control, Access and Possession
- OCAS: Ownership, Control, Access, and Stewardship
- OECD: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
- **UNDRIP**: United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People



Key Messages

Trust is complex, and public trust in health data collection, sharing and use can fluctuate depending on many factors, including the broader political and social context in which health systems operate.

Data literacy should be viewed as one of several foundational elements that create the possibility of trust, alongside other important elements, such as transparency and public benefit.

Trust comes from trustworthy practice. Organizations and institutions that collect, use and share health data need to demonstrate trustworthy practices that are guided by well-developed principles, including those identified in the *Pan-Canadian Health Data Charter*.

We identify six recommendations for trustworthy practices that include: ongoing, inclusive public engagement; reconciliation that includes respect and support for Indigenous data sovereignty; the alignment of health data use with public benefit; clear rules and supports for data sharing, access and use; technology standards for safe and seamless data sharing; and transparency, communications and reciprocal learning.

Health data collection, sharing and use can result in significant benefits as well as risks. Trustworthy practices should focus on maximizing benefits while minimizing risks through proper protections and guardrails.

True person-centred health data, as outlined in the *Pan-Canadian Health Data Charter*, implies that a broad range of interests should have influence over health data design, access, sharing and use.

Transparency about trustworthy practices and accountability for those practices are essential to earning and maintaining public trust.



Recommendations for trustworthy data practices



Introduction

Public trust in governments, organizations and institutions that collect, protect, share and use health data is critical. **Health data** refers to information that describes a person's health, their health care or anything about their health status or condition. It can be about individuals (**personal health data or information**) or about populations (**population health data**).¹ Access to timely and reliable health data, by health care providers, systems and patients, is the foundation of providing high quality health care services to individuals and public health services to populations. This includes providing care across different parts of the **health system** and across regions and locations. Access to health data is also critical for health system planning, management, public health, evaluation, research and innovation. These uses often involve combining or linking data sets (**data linkage**), and in the case of research and innovation, includes interests from the public, non-profit and private sectors.

As part of the <u>Working Together to Improve Health Care for Canadians</u> plan, and in recognition of Canada's fragmented health data ecosystem described by the Expert Advisory Group on a pan-Canadian health data strategy,² Budget 2023 confirmed new funding for provinces and territories. Some of these funds are intended to modernize health systems with standardized **health data** and digital tools. Bi-lateral agreements were aligned with the <u>Pan-Canadian Health Data Charter</u> ("Charter"), which outlines a shared vision for health data in Canada. The 10 principles of the Charter put people and populations at the centre of health data management (see box below). It starts with principles of person-centred data design, inclusive **data governance**, and **distinctions-based approaches** to data sovereignty as defined by First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples, their governments, representatives and expert/technical organizations.

Building on the Charter, this foundational paper on health data expands on these principles. It highlights important considerations for **public trust** and identifies the risks and benefits of **data sharing** as well as the protections interest holders identify to maximize benefits and minimize risks (noting that data sharing does not necessarily imply moving data, and that we use the term interest holders as an alternative to stakeholders³). It includes considerations around the uses of health data in clinical care and patients' access to their own health data (often referred to as "**primary uses**"), as well **secondary uses** that include but are not limited to planning, assessment, evaluation, improvement, research and innovation.

This work is meant to help different levels of government and health system organizations work together to earn public trust in and understanding of health data. It can also be useful to other organizations that hold and use health data, for example private insurance providers, community-



based physicians, and providers of health services that are not publicly funded. Finally, it will help the public better understand how health data are currently used in Canada, and ways in which they can shape the future of health data.

Contents of this paper

This paper starts by describing foundational elements of trust, trustworthiness and data literacy (Section 1). It then introduces key dimensions of trustworthy practice, drawing on established principles and frameworks including Charter principles (Section 2). These principles serve as a foundation for policy and practice, and help to identify, at a conceptual level, considerations that matter and need attention. Section 2 ends by providing six recommendations for trustworthy data practices based on these guiding principles.

Principles alone do not tell us how something will need to be done. It is important to underline that the associated practices are what give life to those principles in a particular context—such as a country, province or health authority. Section 3 describes the risks and benefits of health data use, and the types of protections (associated practices) that meet public expectations ("**social licence**") and that minimize risks while maximizing benefits. National and international case studies focused on both primary and secondary uses of data are included to help animate promising practices and approaches to the ideas presented in the paper. A glossary of health data related terms, drawing where possible from existing definitions, is included to enhance clarity and accessibility. We use **bold** type to identify terms found in the glossary. The glossary was developed for this paper, but is also a standalone resource for common language to support data collaborations and discussions around public trust in the context of health data collection, sharing and use.

The importance of respect and support for **Indigenous data sovereignty** and Indigenous-led **health data governance** are paramount and inform all aspects of this paper. However, we do not make recommendations for building trust and data literacy that are specific to Indigenous Nations, partners, organizations and communities, as this requires an Indigenous-led collaborative approach. In addition, we do not offer detailed organizational guidelines or provide immediate solutions for data misuse.

Approach

We reviewed relevant grey (e.g., policy reports, working papers, guidelines) and peer-reviewed literature, held focus groups and interviewed key informants. Focus groups and interviews add perspectives from individuals who have expertise related to public trust, public engagement and health data protections, and those who have experience as users of healthcare and public health



services. Opportunities for review and comment on key paper materials were included at several different points in the process, including two rounds of public consultations on the health data glossary. For detailed methods, please see Appendix A.

PAN-CANADIAN HEALTH DATA CHARTER

- 1. Person-centric health information design to ensure that health data follows the individual across points of care to support individual, clinical, and analytical access and use while respecting individual privacy with regard to the handling of their information under existing privacy legislation.
- 2. Inclusion of diverse members of the public, patients, communities and other partners in culturally integrated health information system development and oversight.
- 3. Commitment to support First Nations, Inuit and Métis data sovereignty and Indigenousled governance frameworks.
- 4. Common standards for terminology, health data design, stewardship, interoperability, access, and portability.
- 5. The quality, security and privacy of health data to maximize benefits, build trust, and reduce harm to individuals and populations.
- 6. Timely availability and accessibility of meaningful and comprehensive health data to individuals, decision makers, the health workforce, and researchers to support an individual's health needs, quality health programs and services, population and public health, and research.
- 7. The ethical use of health data to support decision making, policies, programs, services, statistics, and research for better health outcomes, while respecting the importance of open science and being open-by-design.
- 8. Data-driven social and technological innovation through partnership, invention, discovery, value creation and international best practice.
- 9. Literacy regarding health data, health data analysis and digital methods for the public, decision-makers, the health workforce, and researchers.
- 10. Harmonization of health data governance, oversight, and policy in areas jointly agreed to by federal, provincial and territorial governments for pan-Canadian coordination.

<u>Pan-Canadian Health Data Charter</u> (Government of Canada, 2023)



Section 1: Building the Foundation: Understanding Trust and Data Literacy

Understanding trust

There is no single, broadly accepted definition of trust, but it is understood to be important in areas or relationships where there is risk, uncertainty and interdependence.^{4,5} Trust can be thought of as "one of the interpersonal attitudes required when a person is dependent on another to achieve some goal under conditions of uncertainty."⁶ It is important to understand the differences between trust and other related concepts such as reliance, confidence, dependence or obligation.⁷ This conceptual distinction is critical if we are to understand and respond to challenges of trust. For example, there is a difference between "reliance" ("I rely on my doctor for prescription refills") or credibility ("I think that person knows what they are talking about") and "trust" ("I trust my partner in our relationship").^{7–9}

The importance of this difference becomes very clear when we think about what happens when reliance versus trust fails. A failure in reliance might lead to feelings of disappointment, while a failure in trust would more likely lead to feelings of betrayal.¹⁰ In other words, trust is embedded in relationships and shared values, whereas reliance is more transactional. The challenge for the relationship between governments or institutions and the public is that the public may have a choice about whether to trust, but it often has no choice about its reliance. In other words, there is a power imbalance between people and governments (and between people and other institutions) that is ever-present in discussions about trust.¹¹

If or when trust is truly relational, it will also be reciprocal; people will trust institutions, but in equal measure institutions will demonstrate that they trust people.^{12,13} As one government minister in Taiwan put it during the COVID-19 pandemic, "to give trust is to get trust."¹⁴ If trust is relational, then clearly it is not equivalent to, nor does it imply, simply doing what you are told. This relational, or reciprocal, aspect of trust is particularly important in the context of health data, not least because power is unequal and because people and communities have been harmed by data misuse. In other words, we consider whether people or organizations *should* be trusted, in light of current or past experiences.¹⁵ This is the normative aspect of trust, which flips the conversation to whether a person or organization is trustworthy. **Trustworthiness** is a set of actions, for example related to accountability and governance mechanisms, that are the basis on which trust is given, withheld, or withdrawn.



Trust cannot be demanded or expected. It is earned through trustworthy behaviour and cannot be rushed.¹⁶ Trust is difficult to achieve and easy to lose and is well-characterized by the phrase "comes on the back of a tortoise and leaves on the back of a horse". Building trust in how health data are collected, used and shared is not just about improving the health system itself; it is also influenced by the broader political and social context in which health systems exist. Trust is grounded in principles of good governance, law, and ethics, which are essential to the functioning of health systems.¹⁷ While there are calls for increased regulation of institutions responsible for health data to help build public trust, it is equally (or arguably more) important to focus on the relationships and shared values that form the foundation of trust.

In addition, trust does not always carry over from one part of the health system to another. For example, trust in a doctor does not translate to trust in the healthcare system as a whole, and trust in university-based researchers to use health data does not translate to trust in private sector companies using the same data. Trust can also depend on the type of data being used—people may feel differently about **routinely-collected data** (or **administrative data**) compared to sensitive information like **genomic data**. Trust may also fluctuate based on the current public health climate or context, such as after a data breach, or the introduction of a new policy. It can also be affected both positively and negatively by personal experiences (e.g. a lack of responsiveness versus feeling listened to by a health care provider).

In other words, there is no simple ranking of which organizations are trusted the most. Research shows that people in poorer health may have less trust in health systems and how their data are used, but it is not clear whether the lack of trust is a cause or a result.¹⁸ There may be a link between how much control people want over their data and how much they trust an organization: people who have less trust in an organization often want more control, and vice versa.¹⁹ Further, with regard to Indigenous Peoples, it is essential to acknowledge the legacies of abuse, colonialism, and paternalism that have resulted in well-founded mistrust for health and health data systems and the people within those systems.

Ultimately, trust is complex, and is earned. It is the outcome of trustworthy behaviour rather than the thing that is worked on directly. Both reliance and relational aspects of trust are important for health and health data as a way for institutions and organizations to demonstrate they are trustworthy. This would imply moving our focus to questions around what institutions and organizations need to do to be good partners, and how they align their priorities and actions with public and community needs and expectations.



Measuring trust

Given the complexity of trust and the degree to which it varies across different aspects of health and health data, it is clear that more work is needed to monitor and measure trust as the outcome of a set of policies and practices. There is minimal guidance on the measurement of trust, likely due to contested definitions of trust and trustworthiness and the lack of distinction often made between trust and similar concepts, as described above. In addition, there are methodological challenges that arise because trust and trustworthiness are not directly observable; people form their own perceptions of trustworthiness and make decisions about their willingness to trust.¹⁰

Despite the importance of trust as an outcome, until recently its measurement has been relatively limited. The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) recently implemented what it intends as a recurring survey on drivers of trust in public institutions.²⁰ There are other efforts to develop measures of trust in government, including reasons for that trust or distrust, as well as measures of trust in health systems more specifically.^{21,22} Ideally, measures of trust will give consideration to the "who" (i.e., the person or organization that needs to earn public trust, or better put, that needs to be trustworthy), the "what" (i.e., the purpose of the data collection, sharing or use) and the "why" (i.e., why people trust or do not trust).

The relationship between trust and health data literacy

Health literacy is the ability to understand, communicate and use health information to make informed decisions about health. **Health data literacy** means having the skills to:

- Understand information presented in various forms;
- Evaluate data to spot when it is used in misleading and wrong ways;
- Collect and handle data that are relevant to specific situations;
- Use data to make decisions about personal and public health; and
- Extract useful information from health data.

Digital health literacy is similar, but adds the ability to find and use health data that are in an electronic format. In other words, health data literacy and digital health literacy help individuals and communities use data to make informed decisions about their own health and understand the benefits and risks of collecting and sharing health data.

An important question is whether there is a direct relationship between literacy and trust, particularly in the context of trust in health data use. The public and those who are part of



health care systems need a shared understanding of the "public good at stake",²³ and this shared understanding would depend upon elements of both literacy and trust. However, the conclusions from the literature on trust and literacy are nuanced rather than straightforward.

The United States (US) National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine's Roundtable on Health Literacy highlighted important considerations in the association between trust and literacy. This includes the role of organizational health literacy which entails the "extent to which organizations equitably enable individuals to find, understand and use information... to inform health-related decisions..." as a way to promote trust.²⁴

Associations between health literacy and trust have been observed in some studies. For example, one study demonstrated a positive association between health literacy and greater trust in medical care, but the study's design does not allow for making conclusions about the direction of effect.²⁵ Other studies challenge this assumption, including one that showed a u-shaped curve association between trust and literacy, such that both low and high levels of health literacy were associated with lower trust in public hospitals.²⁵ A systematic review of the relationship between health literacy and a variety of health outcomes related to diabetes did not find an association between health literacy and trust. Out of 34 articles included in that review only two mentioned trust, with one finding an association and the other not.²⁶ Another small cross-sectional survey study found a relationship between trust in health care providers and the outcome of glycemic control in diabetes, but no relationship between health literacy and the same outcome, and no association between trust and health literacy.²⁷ Further complicating this relationship is the current proliferation of misinformation and disinformation, particularly in public health, where individuals experience information overload and require significant critical-thinking skills for informed decision-making.²⁸

Taken together, the evidence suggests that health data literacy is essential for helping individuals and organizations make informed decisions about their health, health care and health data, but that greater health data literacy may not inherently increase trust. Rather, health data literacy should be viewed as one of several foundational elements that create the possibility for trust, alongside other key factors such as **transparency** and **public benefit**.



Trust, literacy and health equity

Trust is not equal across all population segments, groups or communities. The misinterpretation of data, the overgeneralization of research results, and/or the inaccurate communication of research findings can impede trust. This is particularly true for marginalized groups or any community that has experienced systemic biases. Inequitable practices erode trust, and the use of health data typically focuses on things that are going badly, often putting blame on communities. Institutional mistrust and systemic **racism** are the most prevalent factors influencing vaccine uptake in marginalized communities.²⁹ Similarly, stereotyping, discrimination and profiling have been shown to result in mistrust and avoidance of the health care system by Indigenous Peoples.³⁰ At the same time, recognition of historical inequities should not overshadow ongoing challenges and the fact that "everyday racism… often begins at the front door of … health institutions".²⁴ That is, systemic racism continues to erode trust in some communities.

Building or repairing trust with under-represented or marginalized communities requires a specific and targeted effort. When equity is prioritized, trust is cultivated as people see their needs and rights acknowledged. This highlights the need for institutional change that prioritizes inclusivity and respect along with transparency. These practices can start to bridge the trust gap between institutions and the public.

All of this would imply a movement away from deficit-based approaches (i.e., a focus on problems with outcomes) to a focus on the "strengths of both individuals and communities" which will ultimately "enhanc[e] the quality and level of data used for advocacy."³¹ Furthermore, while improving **health literacy** and **health data literacy** are essential to achieving **health equity**, the need for health literacy is not exclusive to patients, particularly underserved ones. It is also critical to focus on improving health literacy for health system partners including providers, policymakers, researchers, and journalists, ideally including but not limited to cultural competency and cultural humility.²⁴



THE GREAT PATIENT DATA GRAB

A case study highlighting principles of trust in health data collection

The General Practice Data for Planning and Research (GPDPR) initiative, introduced by the National Health Service Digital (NHS Digital) in 2021, aimed to centralize patient data from general practice records to enhance health care planning and research. The initiative was met with significant public, patient and professional concerns over consent, privacy and inadequate communication. Critics cited a lack of **transparency** in how data were to be collected, used and shared, and with whom, with many patients unaware of the program's existence and their right to **opt-out**. Others noted that the plan might erode patient trust with their providers and with the NHS.

These concerns underscore the necessity for clear communication, robust data governance, and meaningful **public involvement** in health data initiatives to maintain public trust and ensure public benefit from health data use.

In 2024, NHS Digital committed to restarting the GPDPR data collection only when and if the following criteria were met:

- 1. Key partners, including the National Data Guardian, are satisfied with the proposed initiative;
- 2. A **trusted research environment** (i.e., a secure computing environment) has been developed to allow approved researchers to access data;
- 3. Any previous data collected through the program can be deleted at any time; and
- 4. People are more aware of the new data collection process as a result of wider engagement and communication.

Read more:

- About the GPDPR programme (NHS Digital)
- The Government's failed data grab
- New GP data extraction 'far exceeds' care.data plans, warn privacy campaigners
- The National Data Guardian for health and social care



Section 2: Trust Comes From Trustworthy Practice

Trust is the goal, and it cannot be assumed, demanded or taken for granted. It is the outcome of an ongoing process or relationship. In other words, trust is the result of an individual judging that someone or something is trustworthy. This means that earning and maintaining trust depends on institutions or organizations not just saying the right things but showing on a daily basis that they are trustworthy. They need to have trustworthy practices. Principles are the best guide to practices, because principles identify our purpose and the essential values or priorities that are tied to that purpose. The *Canada Health Act*³² is a good example of naming a set of principles that resonate with people in Canada. That Act's principles of universality, accessibility, comprehensiveness, portability, and public administration are referred to regularly as the ideal for our health systems. This does not imply that we think we have achieved all of these principles perfectly, but they are important in creating a common vision or touchstone for a common goal.

The <u>Pan-Canadian Health Data Charter</u> was inspired by the Canada Health Act and provides high-level principles for health data design and use. Provinces and Territories in Canada have agreed to these principles; in the case of Quebec, there is general alignment without formal endorsement. There are 10 principles in the Charter, which in summary call for: person-centred data design; inclusion of the public in health data oversight; commitment to Indigenous data sovereignty; protection of data; common standards, for example for data portability, accessibility and stewardship; timely and accessible data; ethical data use for a broad range of purposes; social and technological innovation; health data literacy for everyone; and harmonization of health data governance, oversight and policy. In other words, data are from the people and for the people; health data must therefore be used in ways and for purposes that maximize benefits and minimize harm.

The Charter principles and a deeper understanding of trust are good starting points because they help both with what we are trying to do with how we should go about doing it. In addition to Charter principles, there are other well-developed principles and related frameworks that will be helpful guides to what trustworthy practices actually look like. Using the Charter as a starting point, we outline six dimensions of trustworthy practice.

Putting people at the centre

The first principle of the Charter calls for "person-centric health information design." **Public engagement**, another form of person-centredness, is central to the second principle, which is "inclusion of diverse members of the public, patients, communities and other partners in culturally integrated health information system development and oversight." This requires that public



engagement be ongoing rather than a one-time activity (here, we are using "public" to encompass public, patients, families, communities and other partners). Terminology differs across countries, such as **public and patient involvement** in the UK and **consumer involvement** in Australia, all of which have the same underlying ideas.

The International Association for Public Participation (IAP2) defines a **Spectrum of Public**. **Participation**, ranging from informing (e.g. putting information on a website) to empowerment (e.g. enabling the public to make binding policy). The purpose of this framework is not to identify one particular form of engagement as the "best" in all circumstances, but to suggest careful choice of the right level of engagement given the circumstances and objectives of any particular case.

The lowest level, informing, is arguably always necessary to achieve the transparency expected by the public. Informing is aligned with the requirements to ensure **social licence**,³³ such as the need to communicate with the public about the uses of health data in plain language. Involving the public in "oversight", as suggested by the Charter, necessitates greater collaboration with the public for decision-making. This would be a significant change from current practice, and would require development of processes (ideally with significant input from the public) about, for instance, the most appropriate structure for oversight, the oversight bodies and their activities (e.g. whether an oversight body should sit outside of government). This is a way to create "democratic accountability", which can be described as public health leaders' willingness to discuss their choices openly and to explain their decisions and actions to the public.³⁴

While the main purpose of public engagement is not necessarily to increase public trust, if done well it can certainly strengthen the trustworthiness of organizations. The OECD 2024 Trust Survey demonstrated that Canadians are three times more likely to trust the government if they feel they have a say in what the government does.²⁰ On the other hand, if done poorly, public engagement also has the potential to decrease trust. The same OECD survey indicated that only 40 percent of Canadians believe that the government acts on information from their consultations with the public.

Commitment to Indigenous data sovereignty

The United Nations acknowledges that there are more than 370 million Indigenous People who live in more than 90 countries.³⁵ Respecting the inherent, Constitutional, and Treaty rights of Indigenous Peoples is essential. Canada demonstrated support for this foundational commitment through signing the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (UNDRIP),³⁶ passing the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act,³⁷ and committing to that Act's associated action plan³⁸; British Columbia (BC) and the Northwest Territories also have



legislation that frames their commitments to reconciliation.³⁹ UNDRIP outlines Indigenous Peoples' inherent rights to self-determination and sovereignty, which implies a commitment to building nation-to-nation relationships between Indigenous Nations and federal, provincial and territorial governments. Indigenous data sovereignty is one important piece of this larger set of rights.

Reconciliation in Canada includes taking a **distinctions-based approach** to relationships with First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples, recognizing distinct historical and cultural experiences. A distinctions-based approach applies to health data as well, which is the focus of the third principle of the Charter. Data will be collected when Indigenous people receive services through health systems. Any collection of "Indigenous data", for example self-identified Indigenous status, should be determined by Indigenous authorities. Any use of those data should be subject to additional data governance requirements, and ultimately must be guided by principles and practices of data sovereignty as defined by Indigenous Peoples. Sovereignty and self-determination require that Indigenous Peoples have full governance over Indigenous data, and that those data be available for governance and decision-making by Indigenous Peoples.⁴⁰

Indigenous Peoples in Canada have expressed different approaches to data sovereignty. These continue to evolve, both in guiding principles and frameworks and in how they are enacted by individual Nations or Peoples.

The First Nations Information Governance Centre (FNIGC) envisions that every First Nation will achieve data sovereignty in line with its distinct worldview. FNIGC worked with communities in the 1990s to develop the First Nations principles of OCAP®, which stands for ownership, control, access and possession. The development of OCAP® is described as "... self-determination applied to collective data, information and knowledge."⁴¹ Ownership states that a community or group owns information collectively (i.e. have **collective rights**) in the same way that an individual owns his or her personal information. The principle of control extends to the full data lifecycle, from collection through to destruction. Access means both that First Nations have the ability to use data, and also that they control decisions about how or whether others use them. Possession is the means by which First Nations can exercise both ownership and control.⁴² Finally, FNIGC is working with First Nations across the country to implement the national *First Nations Data Governance Strategy*.

Métis Nations also developed a set of principles for data, OCAS, that are similar but not identical to OCAP[®]. OCAS are principles of data governance that describe how Métis citizens' data and information should be collected, protected, used, and shared, and stands for ownership, control, access and stewardship. Ownership in this case includes consideration of possession, or the actual holding of data. Control is about the power to make decisions about data use, and access is the



ability to use data. Stewardship includes the ability to manage data and to ensure that they are used for the benefit of and in the interests of Métis Citizens.⁴³ Inuit also put emphasis on ownership, control and access,⁴⁴ along with a set of principles based on honouring Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit (IQ), which means traditional knowledge:

- Δ.ö⁵b∩Ċィ⊲⁵σ⁻⁵ Inuuqatigiitsiarniq: Respecting others, relationships and caring for people;
- つ^いしつ^ら Tunnganarniq: Fostering good spirit by being open, welcoming and inclusive; ハト・ア^ら - Pijitsirniq, Serving and providing for family and/or community;
- ベントローム
 ベントローム
 マーム
 マー
- Ac-Lbらっつ Pilimmaksarniq: Development of skills through observation, mentoring, practice, and effort;
- Δbマッハウェ ーlkajuqtigiinniqi: Working together for a common cause; and

The Global Indigenous Data Alliance developed a set of principles that were inspired by OCAP[®] and were intended both to support Indigenous data sovereignty as well as to align with the **FAIR principles** for responsible scientific management.⁴⁶ The resulting **CARE principles** focus on collective benefit, authority to control, responsibility and ethics. CARE principles are meant to "...empower Indigenous Peoples by shifting the focus from regulated consultation to value-based relationships that position data approaches within Indigenous cultures and knowledge systems to the benefit of Indigenous Peoples."³⁵

A focus on relationships underlies all of these principles and reflects a general collectivist and relational worldview that is common among Indigenous Nations. In pursuit of sovereignty and self-determination as well as Nation (re)building, some scholars suggest that a goal is cultural persistence.⁴⁷ This is a shift to acknowledging separateness or autonomy of Indigenous Peoples as opposed to focusing on differences between Indigenous Peoples and settlers. Focusing on "difference", and the desire to eradicate that, was of course the whole purpose of the worst forms of colonial government control over Indigenous Peoples. Protecting against any repeat of that history requires use of data to be controlled by Indigenous Nations, for purposes that are determined by Indigenous Nations. Non-Indigenous people and western methodologies can be part of this data use if and when those are seen as beneficial by Indigenous Peoples and the other values and principles are followed.



There are important ongoing conversations about what is counted as "Indigenous data." It is clear that any kind of flag or marker of Indigenous identity would be included, but it is less clear how data such as six-digit postal codes (which can identify Indigenous communities) should be handled. There are also data sets that over-represent Indigenous Peoples as a result of past and ongoing harms of colonization, for example data from child welfare systems, or data on childhood diabetes. While these conversations will evolve, non-Indigenous led institutions and organizations must ensure that their practices are, and remain, aligned with the decisions of Indigenous Nations.

Organizing data sharing, access and use

The importance of data sharing, and by extension data access and use, is evident in three principles of the Charter. Principle number 6 refers to timely availability and accessibility of health data, number 7 is about ethical use of data while being as open as possible, and number 8 promotes data-driven technological and social innovation. Data collection, sharing and use are often talked about as a "lifecycle" and shown as a loop. Data lifecycles vary, but typically include planning, collection, storage, management, access (or use, disclosure, or sharing), and archiving and/or destruction. Each part of a data lifecycle is associated with principles that are intended to convey trustworthiness. Our focus here is on data access, sharing, and use.

The Interoperability Saves Lives⁴⁸ report included a data-related harm framework outlining the potential harms that can come from health data use, misuse, or non-use. The added emphasis on misuse (e.g. creating false information) or non-use (e.g. data not being available) are important and often overlooked considerations. Non-use of data might happen in the provision of care because of lack of sharing among providers. Non-use of data can occur in the secondary use space if data are not available or are not shared, or if research findings are not shared; the latter is a well-documented issue in clinical trials and was a reason for rules about registration of all trials. The challenge is that harms from non-use are often indirect and difficult to pin down,⁴⁹ and so are often not considered, or they are outweighed by concerns about protection of individual privacy.

The data-related harm framework describes potential harms of use, mis-use or non-use to individuals, to populations, and to the health system, and by extension to the health workforce. Individual harm might come from a data breach, while population harm could come from mis-use of data through stereotyping or discrimination, and systems can be harmed if health data are not used to identify areas for improvement and/or support innovation.⁴⁸ Interoperability of data is seen as an antidote to these harms. While there are not commonly accepted principles of interoperability, the guiding view is that health data should be available to the right people at the right time and in the right form.



There is increasing international consensus around the **Five Safes Framework** as a guide for setting policies and providing transparency for data access, sharing and use.⁵⁰ As a framework, the intent is not to provide specific rules, because those need to reflect local context, values and priorities. Instead, it outlines five areas for which policies and practices need to be determined. As a whole, addressing the five areas constitutes a comprehensive and balanced approach to an institution's definition of safe data sharing and use. The five areas are:

- 1. Projects: What is the question or purpose of data use?
- 2. Data: What data are needed and how detailed or sensitive are they?
- 3. People: Can the person or organization be trusted to use or share the data appropriately?
- 4. Settings: Where will the data be used, e.g. in a secured physical or virtual setting controlled by the data provider or a trusted data institution?
- 5. Outputs: What tables or other information will be made public?

The Five Safes Framework is most associated with the **secondary use** of data. It is important to distinguish between the use of health data to provide care to an individual and the use of health data for public health, planning, quality improvement, research, evaluation, or innovation such as new drug development. The data shared in clinical care contain far more specific details than the data typically shared for secondary use like public health. In a clinical situation, your name and other personal information will be included, while in most other (e.g., non-clinical) cases data will be **de-identified**.

The Five Safes are complemented by international principles for open science, which is defined as "the practice of sharing data, information, tools, and research results, and eliminating barriers to collaboration."⁵¹ The advantages of open science include transparency, accountability, reproducibility, collaboration, and sustainability. Open science includes the **FAIR principles**. Being FAIR means making sure that your data are findable, accessible, interoperable (meaning they can be used with other data sets on the same topic), and reusable.⁴⁶ There are also principles emerging from community groups, such as **EGAP (Engagement, Governance, Access, Protection)** developed by the Black Health Equity Working Group and black communities in Toronto during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic.⁵²

Data stewardship at an organizational or governmental level requires the connection of these and other principles into a cohesive overarching system. Common standards and approaches to stewardship are called for in Charter principle 4. The Canadian Institute for Health Information



(CIHI) is leading work on developing those common standards, informed by a draft framework developed by a federal, provincial and territorial (FPT) working group under the *Working Together to Improve Health Care for Canadians* plan. It is important to acknowledge that standards for data stewardship are not all, or even mainly, technical in nature. Much of what is called for is a shift in culture, moving from **data custodianship** that puts the highest priority on keeping data safe, to a culture and the related skills and knowledge that will protect data while also enabling uses that have public benefit.

Health data and public benefit

Another general principle, implied but not directly named in the Charter, is that all health data use should be aligned with **public benefit** (or **public good**). This principle is implied in the sense that the Charter places "...people and populations at the core of all decisions about the disclosure, access and use of health information". It is also implied in other Charter principles that refer to data use and to maximizing benefit and minimizing harm. The challenge is the lack of a clear and consistent way to define public benefit. There is not yet a consensus on the best approach to evaluate public benefit, how to account for it in applications, and what (or who) we should draw on to define it in the health data context.⁵³ This creates a challenge for transparency, and for any assurance that there would be consistency in decision making about health data use. It should be taken as given, however, that the public themselves have a clear and ongoing role in establishing the approach used for evaluating and determining public benefit.

Principles of **bioethics** are a starting point for defining public benefit. Bioethics began to develop in the 1970s in response to some egregious examples of lack of clinical ethics, for example deliberately withholding effective treatment for syphilis in order to study the natural progression of the disease^{54,55}, and in Canada, nutrition "experiments" on Indigenous children in residential schools.⁵⁶ In response, the US federal government set up a commission to create guiding principles for biomedical and behavioural research involving human subjects. The resulting *Belmont Report* was published in 1978 and identified principles of respect for persons (autonomy), beneficence (do no harm; maximize benefits and minimize risks) and justice (treat equals equally).⁵⁷

These principles have clinical roots, but they can be useful more broadly in the health data space as well.⁵⁸ Clinical origins, however, can lead to over-emphasizing individual autonomy. Individual choice is, of course, important for decisions about using health care services and consenting to participate in clinical research. **Secondary use** of health data combines data from many people, often full populations. People in those data have commonalities; some may see the same doctor, live in the same community, be related to each other, and so on. Those data are used to study treatments, find



patterns and make predictions. The implication is that individual-level data can also embody social relations and collective interests.

Social relationships in data have always been important but are now more obvious and easily understood. Your **genomics data** identify you and can also identify your relatives and possibly other community members. The use of **disaggregated data**, for example by race or disability, can be important for understanding and responding to inequity across populations, but it has also led to stereotyping and discrimination. **Artificial intelligence** (AI) uses data to make predictions; this means that individuals can be affected by health data use, positively or negatively, whether or not their data was used to train the AI model that makes the predictions. All of this suggests the importance of putting the principles of beneficence and justice on equal footing with autonomy.

To summarize, making sure that health data use has public benefit is complex. In all cases, benefits are balanced against risks. Benefits can be easier to see and assess in **primary use**, for example in sharing data among all of an individual's care providers, or making health histories and current medication use available in emergency departments. The balance becomes more complex for **secondary use**, in part because the risks and benefits may not be the same for everyone. The challenge becomes greater still when data use involves the private sector, where commercial gain has to be assessed in relation to public benefit.

A report from the UK proposes three principles for assessing public benefit: purpose, proportionality and responsibility.⁵³ The purpose should be stated clearly, creating both transparency and a justification for data use. Other research indicates that the public has a fairly broad view of health data use that can have public benefit, from sharing for individual care, to use of data that improves service delivery and helps planning, to research and other uses that have longer-term and more indirect potential benefits.⁵⁹ A report from BC on disaggregated data, often referred to as the Grandmother Perspective report, cautions that there is limited benefit in pointing out inequities without an intent to use that information for action that will address them.⁶⁰ Proportionality means that people have access only to the data they need, that access to data is given for specific purposes, and that there are structures in place to reduce risks.⁵³ Responsibility means that the data are suitable for the proposed purpose, and that data can be used safely. There is clear overlap between these principles and the **Five Safes Framework**.



Technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless

Principle 5 of the Charter identifies the importance of ensuring the quality, security and privacy of health data, and also makes reference to maximizing benefits and reducing harms of data use. Health data ultimately have to be protected where they are stored, when they are moved, and when they are used. Protection of data when they are moved and used is also part of Charter principle 4, which includes a call for common standards for interoperability and access.

Information security and cybersecurity are key areas for protection of health data in digital form. The foundational principles of information security are: confidentiality—that access is limited to people who need to have it; integrity—that there are no unauthorized changes to data; and availability—that data are there when they are needed.⁶¹ The US National Institute for Standards and Technology (NIST) recently updated their cybersecurity framework. That framework, like the Five Safes, identifies the areas that governments and other organizations should consider when developing their technology systems, but not specific decisions for each of those. This reflects both that technologies change over time, and that security practices need to be fit for purpose.

The NIST framework includes seven dimensions, with governance at the centre and six others in a circle around that centre.⁶² Governance refers to organizations having things in place for overall monitoring and management of information security. The six other interrelated dimensions are: *identify* all cybersecurity risks; *protect* against those risks; *detect* attacks or breaches that occur despite those protections; *respond* to attacks and minimize their impact; and *recover* to normal operations, including communications about events. In other words, set up data protection systems that provide all the protection necessary, and still plan for the worst possible outcome.

Protecting data when they are moved and used nicely underlines the relationship between the ideas of **data custodianship** (keeping data safe) and **data stewardship** (ensuring they are used for public benefit). It is not surprising, then, that some of the principles identified as relevant to data access, sharing and use also apply to making data safe and sharing seamless. The distinction is that here the emphasis is on principles for technology and technological standards.

For example, one of the Five Safes is "safe settings," which identifies where data will be used. The technological implementation of safe settings in the **secondary use** space is increasingly through **trusted analytic environments**.^{63,64} Virtual rather than physical environments can reduce the needed number of trusted entities coordinating and supporting data access and use, and both physical and virtual environments eliminate sending data out to users. Virtual access can help address some aspects of equity, for example geographic equity and accessibility in general. Trusted



environments also support **data sovereignty**, as they allow ongoing visibility of data use and the ability to turn off access if any issues arise.

Transparency, communications, and learning

Aligning with the Charter provides a common goal for health data-related activity. Principles 1 and 2 of the Charter imply that there should be full transparency on how each of these principles is being met. Transparency is consistently raised by the public as an expectation. Transparency and communications are fundamental as they underpin all other dimensions of trustworthy practice. Trust is not built through action alone—it requires intentional communication and a commitment to health data practices that are both visible and participatory. Transparency is a key ingredient for accountability.⁶⁵ As one author put it, "Opening up flows of information changes who can do what. That is why there are few more important struggles in the world today than the battle over who gets to know what."⁶⁶

Transparency about principles (i.e. *what* we are trying to achieve) is important, but so is transparency about how, specifically, these principles are enacted (i.e. *how* we are achieving these goals through policies and practices). Policies or practices that ensure health data are used for public benefit, or that create clear rules for access, sharing and use (as examples) are critical, but their impact is limited if the public is unaware of them. Transparency is often associated with public acceptability (or **social licence**) in health data use. Transparency and **data literacy** are also linked, as fostering an understanding of health data uses requires clear and accessible communication about data use as well as the provision of educational materials to increase data literacy tailored to meet the needs of specific populations.³³

Transparency does not mean sharing everything. It would likely be more helpful to the public to have transparency on what information is shared through better interoperability standards than transparency on the technical specifications of those standards. Too much information, especially when it is not organized in a meaningful way, can be confusing and then have no real positive effect.⁶⁷

Recommendations for trustworthy practice

We offer six recommendations for trustworthy practice. These recommendations are intended in the first instance for provincial, territorial and federal governments. They are equally relevant to other institutions and organizations that hold, manage, make available and use health data. Each of the recommendations includes frameworks and/or principles to guide action. This section



(Section 2) provides the recommendations, which will then be used in the next section (Section 3) to show how they can be used in practice.

- 1. Organize ongoing, inclusive public engagement;
- 2. Support reconciliation, and support and respect Indigenous data sovereignty;
- 3. Create clear rules and supports for data sharing and access and use;
- 4. Ensure health data use aligns with public benefit;
- 5. Create technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless; and
- 6. Be transparent and create opportunities for reciprocal learning.

See Appendix B for recommendations for trustworthy practices, their alignment with principles and frameworks (including Charter principles) and examples of real-world practices which will be the focus of the next section (Section 3).

Recommendations for trustworthy data practices





Section 3: Benefits, Risks and Protections of Health Data

This section starts with a general overview of the benefits and risks of data sharing. It then uses the six recommendations from the previous section to frame data practices (i.e., protections) in Canada and internationally that exemplify those principles in practice. Finally, we offer recommendations on who should be involved in enacting these practices.

Benefits of health data sharing and use

The use and sharing of health data offers many benefits across both primary and secondary uses and for different groups, including providers, patients, governments, health system planners and innovators. In a health care setting, data sharing enhances quality of care, improves patient safety and reduces the burden on individuals to manage their own health information. This would eliminate the need for "binder medicine", when individuals become overly responsible for managing their own health data and sharing them with health care providers. Digital health innovations, such as remote patient monitoring, can improve quality of care and reduce health systems costs by enabling proactive and timely care.^{68,69} They may also help reduce health inequities, for example by increasing access to health services via virtual care for individuals in remote or underserved areas. However, equitable implementation of digital health tools is critical to ensure disparities are not unintentionally widened by worsening the digital divide.⁷⁰

On a broader scale, secondary use of health data supports vibrant research and system innovation, including within governments, universities, nonprofits and charities, and the private sector. It enables a more comprehensive understanding of health trends, leading to higher-quality evidence that can inform effective policy making and improve health care systems. Health data also play a significant role in public health, strengthening preparedness for responses to emergencies, such as pandemics.^{71,72}

Risks of health data sharing and use

While sharing health data offers significant benefits in improving patient care and advancing research, it also raises important concerns about privacy, security and potential misuse. Risks from health data sharing and use also look different depending on the particular risk "group". Health data have been (and continue to be) used to stigmatize and harm people, particularly those from underserved or marginalized communities. This can happen in both the primary and secondary use space. For example, the summary report *In Plain Sight: Addressing Indigenous-specific Racism and Dissemination in BC Health Care* was published in 2020 following an investigation into Anti-Indigenous racism in BC's health care system.³⁰ The report included stories of health care providers



guessing the blood alcohol level of Indigenous patients without medical justification, reinforcing deeply-rooted biases and harmful stereotypes. This ultimately led to negative impacts on the quality of care Indigenous patients received, further undermining trust in the health system.

Security breaches are another concern and are particularly challenging in the digital era, because once a breach occurs and sensitive information is exposed, it cannot be undone. A loss of privacy can also occur if data or information about individuals without consent and/or are revealed as the consequence of a breach. In these cases, the risk and consequence for individuals is that their sensitive information is available to non-trusted people, while for governments and health systems the risk and consequence may be more about reputation and hence a loss of public trust.

Conversely, there are also inherent risks to *not* sharing health data appropriately or in a timely manner, both in the primary and secondary data space. The failure to share health data appropriately in health care poses significant risks to patient safety, care quality and efficiency (see Greg's Wings case study below). A lack of **interoperability** (i.e., the inability for patient data to flow seamlessly between different providers and patients) can lead to fragmented care, which then increases the possibility of misdiagnosis, missed diagnoses and unnecessary testing. Inadequate health data sharing between providers can exacerbate delays in treatment, hinder coordination between multidisciplinary teams and consequently negatively impact patient outcomes. In the secondary use context, the Expert Advisory Group for the *Pan-Canadian Health Data Strategy* highlighted significant gaps in Canada's health data ecosystem that were exposed during the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to a delayed public health response, such as the inability to track accurately the virus's spread or monitor vaccine distribution and coverage.⁷¹

Health data practices must both minimize risk (such as privacy breaches and misuse) and leverage data to maximize public benefit.

It is also important to acknowledge that both benefits and risks evolve. The development of AI and potential for health data use in AI models is an important example of change. Since trust is in constant negotiation and the nature of health data and associated risks and benefits evolves, we can expect that trustworthy practices will have to evolve as well.



GREG'S WINGS

A case study in the risks of fragmented health data sharing

Greg Price's experience highlights critical failures in health information and data sharing that contributed to delays in the diagnosis and care of testicular cancer, a treatable health condition. He is the only Canadian whose death has been attributed by an independent body to the poor management of his health information, although his lived experience is certainly not unique. Fragmented communication between health care providers led to missed opportunities for timely intervention, and essential health information (like test results and referrals) were not effectively acted upon. The lack of a coordinated system meant that Greg's health information was siloed across different institutions. These gaps in information sharing resulted in delays that led to the mismanagement of his condition and ultimately his death in 2012.

Following his death, Greg Price's family has advocated for significant healthcare reforms, including a fully interoperable health system. Since 2012, there have been strides towards improving interoperability in Canada's healthcare system. Initiatives like the *Interoperability Saves Lives* report⁴⁸ and the *Shared Pan-Canadian Interoperability Roadmap*⁷³ highlight the urgent need for seamless health data sharing to enhance patient outcomes. Additionally, former Bill C-72, the *Connected Care for Canadians Act*,⁷⁴ was introduced in June 2024. This Bill aimed to enable interoperability by requiring vendors to meet established standards and prohibiting data blocking. Under former Bill C-72, vendors would have been prevented from obstructing or interfering with the access, use, or exchange of electronic health information stored within their platforms. These efforts reflect a growing recognition of the need for a more connected and patient-centred healthcare system in Canada.

Read more:

- <u>Greg's Wings</u>
- <u>Continuity of Patient Care Study</u> (Health Quality Council of Alberta, 2013)
- <u>The Connected Care for Canadians Act</u> (Government of Canada, 2024)
- Pan-Canadian Interoperability Roadmap (Canada Health Infoway, 2023)
- Alberta Virtual Care Coordinating Body:
 - Interoperability Saves Lives (2023)
 - <u>Data Disarray</u> (2024)
 - Disconnected Care (2025)



Trustworthy practices

Organize ongoing, inclusive public engagement

Prioritizing inclusive, ongoing public engagement requires aligning engagement approaches with objectives, as outlined in the IAP2 framework, which emphasizes engagement at most, if not all, levels. When the public plays a role in oversight (as highlighted in the Charter), engagement should lean toward the more collaborative end of the spectrum, complemented by other practices that foster transparency and trust.

Representative deliberative processes are gaining greater legitimacy for engagement at the higher end of the spectrum, with mechanisms such as citizens' juries or public assemblies playing a key role. A notable example is a deliberative public engagement process held in Vancouver, BC, where residents were brought together over four days to provide recommendations on acceptable data use within an evolving landscape of digital data from public and private sources, and our ability to link those data together at an individual level.⁷⁵ Permanent deliberative bodies can also be established as a way to identify priorities that require additional input from the public.⁷⁶ These processes can also be designed to ensure that voices from marginalized communities are heard, as was shown through the OneLondon deliberations on health data.⁷⁷

Deliberative processes should be contextualized within a broader spectrum of public participation models when this comprehensive type of engagement may not be feasible, or even necessary. For instance, routine trust surveys (such as the OECD Survey on Drivers of Trust in Public Institutions)²⁰ can monitor public perceptions and experiences over time, while focus groups can facilitate discussions on less complex topics or specific issues. Sequencing and/or diversifying engagement methods can also help leverage the strengths of various public participation methods and meet the accessibility needs of diverse communities. For example, the University of Wollongong (Australia) conducted a national survey that explored public attitudes in Australia toward sharing health data with private companies for research and development,⁷⁸ which was followed by two Citizens' Juries to identify gaps in public perspectives not addressed in the survey.⁷⁹

The <u>Public Engagement on Health Data Toolkit</u> (Simon Fraser University) offers a comprehensive overview and planning template for engagements, incorporating a broad range of public participation models, including public consultations, dialogues, open houses, and online surveys.



Support reconciliation, and respect and support Indigenous data sovereignty

We are a long way from seeing full realization of true Indigenous data sovereignty. While there is still a journey ahead, there are many promising developments, and we highlight a few here, indicating activities of Indigenous Peoples, collaborations between Indigenous and settler organizations, and changes in practices of non-Indigenous led institutions.

The FNIGC led the development of a First Nations Data Governance Strategy, which "…envisions a First Nations-led, national network of regional information governance centres across the country equipped with the knowledge, skills, and infrastructure needed to serve the information needs of First Nations people and communities."^{80,81} The plan is to implement this strategy in three phases, starting with foundational elements, then moving to the development of the required human and technical capacities, and finally to an ongoing sustainable and "evergreen" system. It is understood that an evergreen set of regional data centres will continue to evolve, and that the whole process of implementation is likely to take a decade or more.⁸² Implementation is in the first phase, following the delivery of the strategy in 2020 and funding committed in Federal Budget 2021. Other commitments include the Canadian federal government's royal assent of legislation enshrining commitments to UNDRIP in 2021 and announcement of an associated action plan in 2023. Allocation of funding by the federal government to the next phases will be an important signal of an ongoing commitment to reconciliation.

The development of a profile of Métis health status offers an example of collaboration between Indigenous and non-Indigenous organizations, in this case the Manitoba Métis Federation (MMF) and the Manitoba Centre for Health Policy (MCHP—which is part of the University of Manitoba).⁸³ The working relationship for this comprehensive profile began with the MMF recognizing the need for Métis-specific health information for their own planning and service development. The groups worked together to define the Métis population in Manitoba, to develop a Métis Population Database, and to agree on the ongoing rules for use of that database. The rules agreed to were based on the OCAS framework, and require "…approvals from MMF, MCHP, Manitoba Health's Health Information Privacy Committee (which protects all Manitoba citizens' right to privacy), and the University of Manitoba's Health Research Ethics Board (the group which evaluates academic ethics),⁸³ and other government ministries and agencies as necessary.

This work was extended in 2013 with the development of research protocols by the University of Manitoba for working with Indigenous Peoples.⁸⁴ Development of these protocols was led by a First Nations, Métis, and Inuit Research Engagement Steering Committee that included Indigenous and non-Indigenous members from inside and outside the University. The research protocols provide



guidance on how research with Indigenous Nations should be conducted, and include reference to OCAP[®], OCAS and IQ (traditional knowledge). There are other examples of co-development of research practices, such as a Code of Research Ethics used to guide a Kahnawà:ke Schools Diabetes Prevention Program.⁸⁵ In this case, a Community Advisory Board was established to make decisions on all requests for use of collected data, to assess "…cultural relevance and to assess benefit to the community."⁸⁵

The benefits of building trustworthy practices and true relationships over time can be seen in other research undertaken in Manitoba. The Manitoba Inuit Association approached the MCHP in 2016 with an interest in developing population-based strategies for health and well-being of Inuit in Manitoba. This is an ongoing partnership that is driven by community interests and includes community members in all aspects of the research, including authorship on papers.^{86,87} It has also produced unanticipated benefits, including greater visibility of Inuit and their needs and contributions, and greater connection across communities.⁸⁸

There are similar long-standing relationships in Ontario between ICES, a research institute that also holds, uses, and shares a number of different linkable data sets, and First Nations governing bodies including the Chiefs of Ontario, Grand Council Treaty #3, and Kenora Chiefs Advisory. Clear and legally binding data governance agreements with these bodies establish mechanisms for approval of the use of data which could identify First Nations communities or individuals in ICES data. As a result, any use of such data requires approval by research committees led by First Nations partner organizations, and may also require engagement with communities. There is a similar data governance agreement with the Métis Nation of Ontario regarding Métis identifying data. In addition, ICES provides training on Indigenous history, social context and worldviews for staff and researchers, and there is a commitment to building expertise in data analysis and epidemiology in Indigenous communities.⁸⁹ In other words, specific policies and procedures of ICES, a non-Indigenous institution, were established to support Indigenous data sovereignty.

Create clear rules and supports for data sharing, access and use

Principles and frameworks such as FAIR, OCAP[®], OCAS, IQ, EGAP and the Five Safes are only a guide to practice. Policies and processes are what give life to principles in any institution. Clearly written policies then make it possible to be transparent about practices.

Consent is a key practice that shows commitment to the bioethics principle of respect for persons (autonomy). Data flows for **primary use** generally require some form of consent, and it is a required component in clinical research that is testing a new drug or device. The **secondary use**



area is slightly different. **Routinely-collected data**, for example, are often collected based on authority in relation to providing a service, and can be used for purposes that are consistent with that collection.⁹⁰ Even though individual consent is not required for all uses of data, individuals represented in those data still have interests in data use, and institutions have obligations in relation to those interests. This is one reason for increasing focus on community governance, such as expressed by the Black Health Equity Working Group through their EGAP principles.⁵² (See more related to this in the sub-section below, on public benefit.)

The Five Safes have been used to frame policies in many governments and organizations, particularly in the United Kingdom (UK), Australia and Canada. The details of implementation vary, but there are some commonalities in requirements. We provide here a brief summary of the kinds of requirements that are often included for each of the dimensions of the **Five Safes Framework**.

- 1. Projects: Scientific peer review; ethics review; and demonstration of public benefit.
- 2. Data: De-identification; limiting access to data sets required for the project.
- 3. People: Identified users who are part of an accountable institution (e.g. university); privacy training; signed agreements.
- 4. Settings: Use of trusted secure environments (which increasingly are virtual); two factor authentication for access; controlled movement of any outputs of analysis.
- 5. Outputs: Vetting of anything to move out of the secure setting; review of written material.

The **FAIR principles** are a way to support use of health data as part of a commitment to open science. FAIR is about making health data findable, accessible, interoperable and reusable. In other areas of science there is a strong focus through FAIR on data deposit, which means putting research data in a place that can be found and is accessible⁷³ to other researchers. In the health data space, this kind of deposit is not always possible, because the data are sensitive, and because the data are governed by governments and other institutions (decisions about data sharing are not made by data users).

Making data "accessible" also means documenting what is in the data, how they can be used, any potential biases, data quality considerations, and other considerations for use. There is increasing recognition that this documentation, which is called **metadata**, is critical for any kind of data use or re-use, for example because metadata can help assess whether data are fit for the purpose intended. Even more importantly, there are ways to share information that support health data use that can evolve as people build tools or concepts or analytic approaches. As a simple example, many people



are interested in using health data to understand costs of different approaches to care. Not all data come with cost information, so that has to be added, and there are many different, often complex, ways to do this. Sharing these methods in a way that can be reused easily is consistent with FAIR principles. Good examples of this practice are the long-standing and well-used Concept Dictionary created and curated by MCHP,⁹¹ and a newer phenotype library developed in the UK.⁹²

All of these practices are part of data stewardship. Agreement across federal, provincial and territorial organizations on common approaches will be important for meeting the objectives outlined in the Charter. CIHI is leading work on defining and harmonizing data stewardship practices.

Ensure health data use aligns with public benefit

One way to ensure that uses of health data have public benefit is to involve members of the public in setting guidelines and guardrails. Community governance was identified in BC's Grandmother Perspective report. Following the publication of that report in 2020, BC introduced and passed the *Anti-Racism Data Act*, which became law in 2022.⁹³ That Act mandated the creation of an Anti-Racism Data Committee which includes community members from across BC with a variety of backgrounds and experiences.⁹⁴ The terms of reference says: "The purpose of the committee is to support government's work to implement the Act and support meaningful community involvement in the development of government's collection, use and disclosure of information for the purposes of identifying and eliminating systemic racism and advancing racial equity."⁹⁵

The Caldicott Principles (see box below) were developed through a literature review and public engagement in the UK, motivated by the increase of health data in digital form. These principles guide the practice of Caldicott Guardians in the UK. Caldicott Guardians serve an advisory role within organizations that provide publicly funded services, and are found in institutions that support secondary use as well. They provide advice within organizations to help guide data sharing decisions. The advice must of course fit within what is legally allowed, but often has an ethical dimension and areas of uncertainty (for example, whether a health care provider can share suicide risk information with a patient's psychiatrist). Caldicott Guardians can also respond to national programs that seek advice. This advice is supported by a panel of experts, and there is a learning program in place for all Caldicott Guardians.



In the **secondary use** space, there is increasing attention to involvement of diverse voices and perspectives in research projects, for example through the Canadian Institutes for Health Research Strategy for Patient Oriented Research.⁹⁶ The intent is that through patient and public engagement, research questions will better reflect community priorities and needs, and the analysis and interpretation of data will benefit from the knowledge and expertise of engaged communities. It is expected that this will increase the likelihood and speed of use of the resulting evidence, whether by communities themselves or by decision and policy makers in public health and health care systems.

Organizations that facilitate access to health data for **secondary uses** also play an important role in advancing public benefit through their collaborations with researchers and knowledge users, including those in the private sector. The National Data Guardian in England and Understanding

PRINCIPLES IN PRACTICE

The Caldicott Principles and Caldicott Guardians

The Caldicott Principles were originally developed in 1997 in the UK through a commissioned review led by Dame Fiona Caldicott. The review was motivated by increasing public concern about use of health data in the NHS, driven by the increasing use of computers and the creation of digital data. We highlight these principles because they have shaped many health data discussions and, with some revisions, are still actively in use in the UK.

Caldicott Principles are intended to guide both organizations and patients and apply to all data collected for the provision of health and social care services where patients can be identified and where they would expect this to be kept private. Caldicott Guardians play senior roles in organizations that use and/or share health and social care information. They oversee the upholding of Caldicott Principles and provide advice in complex or unique cases. The eight principles can be summarized as follows: the use and purpose of information should be legal and well justified; confidential information should be kept to the minimum necessary and shared only with people who need it; all who use information should be aware of their responsibilities; the duty to share information is as important as the duty to protect confidentiality; and people should be informed about use of their data.

Read more about the eight <u>Caldicott Principles</u>.



Patient Data (an organization that provides objective information on how data are used in the NHS) commissioned a public deliberation on how the members of the public would define and assess public benefit. Participants emphasized the importance of trust and transparency, supported commercial (private sector) use of health data as long as there is also clear public benefit, and recognized that there can only be public benefit if data are used.⁹⁷ The views and recommendations from this deliberation were used by the National Data Guardian to produce guidance intended to instill practices that would build trust in data use. The guidance suggests assessing the "public" part of any potential data use and the "benefit" part, and provides examples of the types of benefits that are acceptable. These range from understanding community needs to finding new treatments to exploratory research.⁹⁸ Ongoing public input, in particular for "edge cases" was also seen as important.

Create technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless

There is a clear need for common interoperability standards, as these define the safe technological processes for sharing data across institutions and across provincial and territorial boundaries. The *Interoperability Saves Lives* report⁴⁸ and the health data-related harm framework make the case for interoperability. There is work underway on this, defined by the *Pan-Canadian Interoperability Roadmap*, which outlines shared responsibility for the vision of "a modernized health system built on connected care."⁷³ Canada Health Infoway and CIHI are leading the way on this work.

In June 2024, federal Health Minister Mark Holland announced a new bill, the *Connected Care Act* (Bill C-72).⁷⁴ This Act was designed to ensure that patients can have access to their own data, that technology providers (vendors) adopt common standards for data that support interoperability, and to ensure that health data can and will flow as needed across institutions and geographic boundaries. To be clear, technology must be designed to respond to and enable the policy decisions that are made elsewhere. Technologies (and vendors) do not dictate what is shared, but make it possible to do so when proper approvals are in place.

The announcement of the *Connected Care Act* can be seen <u>here</u>, and included comments from Greg Price's sister, Teri Price, who is Co-Founder and Executive Director of Greg's Wings. The Act did not receive royal assent before the prorogation of Parliament in early January 2025. This means that in order to move forward, the Act will have to be reintroduced in the next Parliament.


Be transparent and create opportunities for reciprocal learning

The Ipsos Mori *One-Way Mirror Report* from the UK⁹⁹ identifies four "key tests" for public acceptability and transparency:

- 1. Why: Are data being used for public benefit or profit?
- 2. Who: Is the organization using health data considered trustworthy?
- 3. What: Are the data sensitive and can they identify me?
- 4. How: Are there safeguards in place to keep the data private and secure?

These transparency considerations align well with the **Five Safes Framework**, and underscore the importance of institutions enacting open and visible policies and processes related to health data collection, sharing and use. As mentioned in Section 2, transparency in decision-making processes (as opposed to the technical aspects of health data), is especially important because it ensures that institutions are accountable for the values and priorities that guide their specific actions. Communications about health data should also be accessible in writing, language and format, and produced using accessibility standards.

Data saves lives: Reshaping health and social care with data,¹⁰⁰ the UK government's strategy to ensure the safe and effective use of health data, demonstrates effective strategies for communicating health data benefits, risks, and protections to the public. In addition to conducting large-scale public consultations and the establishment of advisory panels focused on communications, the strategy also included the development of a "*data pact*" which aims to "provide clarity and certainty about what does—and does not—happen to health and care data." Toolkits for the public and other key health data partners have also been created to facilitate community dialogue about health data; these toolkits provide information on the *basics of health data, artificial intelligence*, and how to *establish community-led patient registries*.

Following Greg Price's death in 2012, through the not-for-profit <u>Greg's Wings</u>, his family has advocated strongly for health information management reform (see box above). This includes a focus on transparent communication with the public and support of data literacy and training initiatives. *Falling Through the Cracks*, the short film which highlights Greg's experience navigating the healthcare system, has been viewed and discussed with many patient and community groups, as well as with the general public. Greg's Wings has also partnered with the Canadian Health Information Management Association (CHIMA) to enhance health information education across a variety of academic programs.



There are additional transparency requirements in Canada, for example with respect to communication in both official languages, and in alignment with commitments to reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples. Perhaps most importantly, a commitment to transparency should include an ongoing commitment to accountability for trustworthy practices. It is important for governments, institutions and organizations to define and share their practices, as informed by engagement with the public, Indigenous Peoples and other interest holders. It is equally important for there to be regular and transparent reporting on whether and how those commitments are enacted, and where practices have fallen short, including but not limited to any data breaches. This should be paired with regular measurement and reporting of trust, how that is interpreted, and how any trust deficits are being addressed.

In other words, the existing power dynamics will need to shift. The idea of reciprocal learning is tied to reciprocal trust. Institutions act on input from the public, share with the public, and enable the public to respond. This creates a learning cycle that aligns with Charter principle 1 on involving the public in design and oversight of health data. It is consistent with community inputs to governance of health data, and with extending notions of privacy protection to populations and communities as well as individuals. Knowledge and insights can and should move in both directions and have influence on the future of health data.

Final Thoughts, Including Who Should Be Involved

Trust is an important goal for health data and for the health systems that rely on those data. Health data literacy is a necessary foundation, and a laudable goal in and of itself, but its relationship with trust is complex and not well understood. Trust ultimately depends on trustworthy practices, and those practices must evolve as health data and the opportunities to use them evolve.

In this paper, we offer a pathway to trustworthy practice for governments, organizations and institutions that collect, use and share health data through six principles-based recommendations:

- 1. Organize ongoing, inclusive public engagement;
- 2. Support reconciliation, and respect and support Indigenous data sovereignty;
- 3. Create clear rules and supports for data sharing, access and use;
- 4. Ensure health data use aligns with public benefit;
- 5. Create technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless; and
- 6. Be transparent and create opportunities for reciprocal learning.



These recommendations for trustworthy practice help identify what needs to be done, but how decisions are made and who is involved are also important. Here we offer final reflections on both who needs to be involved in informing the specifics around trustworthy practices and what is ultimately at stake.

It is clear that federal, provincial and territorial (FPT) governments have a clear role, as do organizations such as CIHI and Canada Health Infoway. There should also be continued movement towards including Indigenous Peoples, which would reflect true federal/provincial/territorial/ Indigenous (FPTI) working relationships, in recognition of nation-to-nation commitments embedded in being a signatory to UNDRIP and in law such as the federal *UNDRIP Act*.^{36,37}

Governments have significant responsibilities for decisions about data collection, protection, sharing and use. They are not, however, the only relevant groups. If the aim is person-centred health data design, the health data that are part of that design should come from ministries of health, but also electronic medical records (which are not always under government authority), and private-pay providers and organizations such as physiotherapy, home care, and long-term care. Non-profit organizations, health charities and others also have interests in health information as an input to their services and activities. The public, patients, and family members also clearly have interests in health data. This framing expands the way we should think about who is involved.

The multitude of interests involved in both **primary** and **secondary uses** of health data make clear that there is no simple one-size-fits-all solution for trustworthy practices. The processes used to govern data collection, protection, sharing and use must align with their intended purpose. They will need to evolve over time, as data, technology, analytic approaches, and public expectations also evolve. Public trust must be earned and can easily be lost. Trust is based on relationships that are mutual and require ongoing attention.

Trustworthy practices should be transparent, and part of that transparency is showing accountability for both successes and failures in meeting the intended practices. Trust itself should be measured and monitored over time, as part of an ongoing dialogue between the public and the governments, institutions and organizations that have responsibility for health data.

Earning and keeping public trust is both a laudable and achievable goal. It will require changes in practice, including adopting new models of data stewardship and creating more interoperability in technologies, policies, standards, and relationships across organizations and geography. The principles of the Health Data Charter provide a common goal, and trustworthy practices can help earn the public trust that will be essential for getting there.



Appendix A: Methods

This paper was developed through a review of relevant peer-reviewed and grey literature, as well as relevant existing frameworks. The latter were identified based on the authors' existing knowledge, input from colleagues at the Public Health Agency of Canada and Health Canada, and through colleagues, reviewers, focus groups and interviews, and reading. Focus groups and key informant interviews were conducted to add perspectives and feedback to the work. The steps undertaken throughout the process included:

Phase 1: Development of health data glossary

- Review of existing health data glossaries;
- Proposal for grouping terms using plain language definitions to align with contents of this paper;
- Two rounds of public consultation to confirm terms and definitions.

Phase 2: Building the Foundation (Section 1) and Trust Comes from Trustworthy Practice (Section 2)

- Literature review focused on principles of public trust and relationship with health data literacy;
- Focus group #1 (eight participants);
- Key informant interviews held with experts in trust and public engagement;
- Feedback synthesized and draft of Sections 1 and 2 developed.

Phase 3: Benefits, Risks and Protections of Health Data (Section 3)

- Literature review focused on benefits, risks and protections of health data in the Canadian context;
- Focus group #2 (eight participants);
- Key informant interview held with expert in data protections;
- Feedback synthesized and draft of Section 3 developed.



Phase 4: Engagement with Health Data Research Network Canada's Public Advisory Council (PAC) and Public Engagement Working Group (PE WG)

• Focus group #3 held with members of HDRN Canada's PAC and PE WG (11 participants) focused on building the foundation (Section 1), trust comes from trustworthy practice (Section 2) and the benefits, risks and protections of health data (Section 3)

Phase 5: Case study development

• Development of real-world case studies based on literature review, focus groups and key informant interviews.

Phase 6: Final paper development

• Drafting of the final paper and review by relevant health data partners, including members of the public.

Engagement methods

Potential participants for focus groups and key informant interviews were identified based on previous engagements and ongoing working relationships with the project team. Recruitment was conducted through direct contact via email. Focus groups and key informant interviews included individuals with lived experience as well as people with expertise in public engagement, data privacy/ ethics, public trust, inclusion, diversity, equity and accessibility, and Indigenous data sovereignty.

Focus groups: Three online 90-minute focus groups were facilitated by members of the project team. A live whiteboard was used to facilitate discussion. Background material and discussion questions were provided one week in advance of each session. An honorarium of \$50 was provided to participants who identified as patient/public partners.

Key informant interviews: Four 60-minute semi-structured interviews were facilitated by two members of the project team. Sample questions used to guide the discussion were shared one week in advance of the interviews.



Appendix B: Trustworthy Practices and Alignment with Charter Principles

Charter principles	Dimensions of trustworthy practice	Recommendations	Related principles or frameworks	Noteworthy practices
Person-centred data design (1); Inclusion of the public in health data oversight (2)	Putting people at the centre	Prioritize ongoing, inclusive public engagement	IAP2 framework	Trust Surveys;
				Australian Citizen Juries;
				BC Data Deliberation;
				Public Engagement on Health Data Toolkit (Simon Fraser University)
Commitment to Indigenous data sovereignty (3)	Commitment to Indigenous data sovereignty	Support reconcil- iation and respect Indigenous data sovereignty	OCAP®; OCAS; IQ; CARE	BC DRIPA and related report;
				FNIGC data strategy
Ethical data use for a broad range of purposes (7);	Health data and public benefit	Ensure health data use aligns with public benefit/good	Caldicott Principles;	BC Anti-Racism Data Act and Anti-Racism Data Committee; ICES private sector work
			Principles of bioethics;	
Social and techno- logical innovation			Data governance and stewardship framework being led by CIHI;	
(8)			EGAP	
Timely and accessi-	Organizing data sharing, access and use	Create clear rules for data sharing, access and use	Five Safes Framework;	Concept Dictionary (Manitoba Centre for Health Policy); Phenotype library (UK)
ble data (6);			FAIR Principles;	
Harmonization of health data gover- nance, oversight, and policy (10)			Harm Framework (from Interoperability Saves Lives);	
			Data governance and stewardship framework being led by CIHI	
Common standards for example for data portability, accessibility and stewardship (4); protection of data (5)	Technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless	Create technology standards that will make data safe and sharing seamless	Five Safes Framework (specifically, "safe settings");	Pan-Canadian interoperability roadmap;
				Digital Governance
			The US National Institute for Standards and Technology (NIST) cybersecurity frame- work	Standards Institute
Inclusion of the	Transparency, communications, and learning	Be transparent and create opportunities for bi-directional learning	Transparency;	Data Saves Lives;
public in health data oversight (2);			Literacy	Greg's Wings
Health data literacy for everyone (9)				



References

- 1. Data saves lives. NHS Transformation Directorate. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://transform.england.</u> <u>nhs.uk/key-tools-and-info/data-saves-lives/</u>
- Expert Advisory Group on the pan-Canadian Health Data Strategy. Pan-Canadian Health Data Strategy: Building Canada's Health Data Foundation: Expert Advisory Group - Report 2; 2021. Accessed March 21, 2025. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/corporate/</u> mandate/about-agency/external-advisory-bodies/list/pan-canadian-health-data-strategy-reports-summaries/ expert-advisory-group-report-02-building-canada-health-data-foundation/expert-advisory-group-report-02building-canada-health-data-foundation.pdf
- 3. Akl EA, Khabsa J, Petkovic J, et al. "Interest-holders": A new term to replace "stakeholders" in the context of health research and policy. Cochrane Evid Synth Methods. 2024;2(11):e70007. doi:10.1002/cesm.70007
- 4. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Trust and Confidence at the Interfaces of the Life Sciences and Society: Does the Public Trust Science? A Workshop Summary. National Academies Press; 2015. https://doi.org/10.17226/21798
- 5. Gambetta D. Can We Trust Trust? In: Gambetta D, ed. Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations. Basil Blackwell Ltd; 1988:213-237. <u>http://sieci.pjwstk.edu.pl/media/ bibl/%5BGambetta%5D_%5BCan%20We%5D_%5BTrust%5D_%5B1988%5D.pdf</u>
- 6. Holland S, Cawthra J, Schloemer T, Schröder-Bäck P. Trust and The Acquisition and Use of Public Health Information. Health Care Anal. 2022;30(1):1-17. doi:10.1007/s10728-021-00436-y
- Meyer SB, Ward PR. Differentiating between trust and dependence of patients with coronary heart disease: furthering the sociology of trust. Health Risk Soc. 2013;15(3):279-293. doi:10.1080/1369857 5.2013.776017
- 8. Brown PR, Meyer SB. Dependency, trust and choice? Examining agency and 'forced options' within secondary-healthcare contexts. Curr Sociol. 2015;63(5):729-745. doi:10.1177/0011392115590091
- 9. Ward PR, Coffey C, Meyer S. Trust, choice and obligation: a qualitative study of enablers of colorectal cancer screening in South Australia. Sociol Health Illn. 2015;37(7):988-1006. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.12280
- 10. Taylor LA, Nong P, Platt J. Fifty Years of Trust Research in Health Care: A Synthetic Review. Milbank Q. 2023;101(1):126-178. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12598
- 11. Grimen H. Power, Trust, and Risk: Med Anthropol Q. 2009;23(1):16-33. doi:10.1111/j.1548-1387.2009.01035.x



- 12. Chan HY. Reciprocal Trust as an Ethical Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Asian Bioeth Rev. 2021;13(3):335-354. doi:10.1007/s41649-021-00174-2
- 13. Frega R. Political elites and the democratic duty to trust the people. Acta Polit. Published online January 10, 2024. doi:10.1057/s41269-023-00323-5
- 14. Crider C. Two paths for health AI governance: paternalism or democracy. Future Healthc J. 2024;11(3):100180. doi:10.1016/j.fhj.2024.100180
- 15. O'Doherty KC. Trust, trustworthiness, and relationships: ontological reflections on public trust in science. J Responsible Innov. 2023;10(1):2091311. doi:10.1080/23299460.2022.2091311
- 16. Gille F. About the Essence of Trust: Tell the Truth and Let Me Choose—I Might Trust You. Int J Public Health. 2022;67:1604592. doi:10.3389/ijph.2022.1604592
- 17. Gille F, Smith S, Mays N. Evidence-based guiding principles to build public trust in personal data use in health systems. Digit Health. 2022;8:20552076221111947. doi:10.1177/20552076221111947
- Armstrong K, Rose A, Peters N, Long JA, McMurphy S, Shea JA. Distrust of the Health Care System and Self-Reported Health in the United States. J Gen Intern Med. 2006;21(4):292-297. doi:10.1111/ j.1525-1497.2006.00396.x
- 19. Aitken M, de St Jorre J, Pagliari C, Jepson R, Cunningham-Burley S. Public responses to the sharing and linkage of health data for research purposes: a systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative studies. BMC Med Ethics. 2016;17(1):73. doi:10.1186/s12910-016-0153-x
- 20. OECD, ed. OECD Survey on Drivers of Trust in Public Institutions 2024 Results: Building Trust in a Complex Policy Environment. OECD Publishing; 2024. doi:10.1787/9a20554b-en
- 21. Burns KE, Brown P, Calnan M, et al. Development and validation of the Trust in Government measure (TGM). BMC Public Health. 2023;23(1):2023. doi:10.1186/s12889-023-16974-0
- 22. Meyer SB, Brown P, Calnan M, et al. Development and validation of the Trust in Multidimensional Healthcare Systems Scale (TIMHSS). Int J Equity Health. 2024;23(1):94. doi:10.1186/s12939-024-02162-y
- 23. Veitch K. Obligation and the Changing Nature of Publicly Funded Healthcare. Med Law Rev. 2019;27(2):267-294. doi:10.1093/medlaw/fwy033
- 24. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice; Roundtable on Health Literacy. The Roles of Trust and Health Literacy in Achieving Health Equity: Community Settings: Proceedings of a Workshop-in Brief. (McHugh MK, Alper J, eds.). National Academies Press (US); 2023. Accessed March 17, 2025. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK590224/</u>



- 25. Bertram M, Brandt US, Hansen RK, Svendsen GT. Does higher health literacy lead to higher trust in public hospitals? Int J Equity Health. 2021;20(1):209. doi:10.1186/s12939-021-01528-w
- Al Sayah F, Majumdar SR, Williams B, Robertson S, Johnson JA. Health Literacy and Health Outcomes in Diabetes: A Systematic Review. J Gen Intern Med. 2013;28(3):444-452. doi:10.1007/s11606-012-2241-z
- 27. Mancuso JM. Impact of health literacy and patient trust on glycemic control in an urban USA population. Nurs Health Sci. 2010;12(1):94-104. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2009.00506.x
- 28. Beese AS, Guggiari E, Jaks R, De Gani SM. The empowering role of health literacy in combatting fake news, misinformation and infodemics. Eur J Public Health. 2024;34(Supplement_3):ckae144.1696. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckae144.1696
- 29. Newman PA, Dinh DA, Nyoni T, et al. Covid-19 Vaccine Hesitancy and Under-Vaccination among Marginalized Populations in the United States and Canada: A Scoping Review. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. 2025;12(1):413-434. doi:10.1007/s40615-023-01882-1
- 30. Turpel-Lafond ME. In Plain Sight: Addressing Indigenous-Specific Racism and Discrimination in B.C. Health Care.; 2020. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://engage.gov.bc.ca/app/uploads/sites/613/2020/11/</u> <u>In-Plain-Sight-Full-Report-2020.pdf</u>
- 31. First Nations Information Governance Centre. Strengths-Based Approaches to Indigenous Research and the Development of Well-Being Indicators. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://fnigc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/FNIGC-Research-Series-SBA_v04.pdf</u>
- Legislative Services Branch. Consolidated federal laws of Canada, Canada Health Act. December 12, 2017. Accessed March 24, 2025. <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-6/page-1.html</u>
- 33. Burt J, Cumyn A, Dault R, et al. Health data social licence: An inclusive process to learn more about the perspectives of experienced public and patient advisors. Int J Popul Data Sci. 2024;9(1). doi:10.23889/ijpds.v9i1.2375
- 34. Bartlett B, Ainsworth J, Cunningham J, et al. Health data stewardship: achieving trust through accountability in health data sharing for research. Law Innov Technol. 2024;16(2):517-557. doi:10.1080 /17579961.2024.2392937
- 35. Carroll SR, Garba I, Figueroa-Rodríguez OL, et al. The CARE Principles for Indigenous Data Governance. Data Sci J. 2020;19:43. doi:10.5334/dsj-2020-043
- 36. United Nations. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indegenous Peoples. United Nations; 2007. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf</u>



- 37. Government of Canada D of J. Backgrounder: United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act. April 12, 2021. Accessed March 21, 2025. <u>https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/declaration/about-apropos.html</u>
- 38. Government of Canada D of J. The Action Plan. March 10, 2023. Accessed March 21, 2025. <u>https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/declaration/ap-pa/index.html</u>
- 39. Government of Canada D of J. Update on provincial and territorial and international developments Third annual progress report on implementation of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act – June 2024. June 13, 2024. Accessed March 10, 2025. <u>https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/declaration/report-rapport/2024/p7.html</u>
- Smith DE. Governing data and data for governance: the everyday practice of Indigenous sovereignty. In: Kukutai T, Taylor J, eds. Indigenous Data Sovereignty: Toward an agenda. Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research (CAEPR). ANU Press; 2016.
- 41. FNIGC. Pathways to First Nations' data and information sovereignty. In: Kukutai T, Taylor J, eds. Indigenous Data Sovereignty: Toward an agenda. Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research (CAEPR). ANU Press; 2016. <u>https://library.oapen.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.12657/31875/624262.</u> <u>pdf?seq#page=25</u>
- 42. The First Nations Principles of OCAP[®]. The First Nations Information Governance Centre. Accessed March 21, 2025. <u>https://fnigc.ca/ocap-training/</u>
- 43. Gabel C, Henry R. National Métis Health Data Strategies and Principles. Accessed March 8, 2025. https://macsphere.mcmaster.ca/bitstream/11375/30688/2/MNC_Final_Draft_Report_March_2024.pdf
- 44. Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami. National Inuit Strategy on Research: Implementation Plan. Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami; 2018. Accessed March 11, 2025. <u>https://www.itk.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/ITK_NISR_Implementation-Plan_Electronic-Version.pdf</u>
- 45. Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit | Nunavut Impact Review Board. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://www.nirb.ca/</u> inuit-qaujimajatuqangit
- 46. Wilkinson MD, Dumontier M, Aalbersberg IjJ, et al. The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Sci Data. 2016;3(1):160018. doi:10.1038/sdata.2016.18
- 47. Andersen C, Gabel C. Deciding in Relation with Community: An Indigenous Studies Critique of the Canadian Indigenous Methodologies Field. In: Huaman ES, Martin ND, eds. Indigenous Research Design: Transnational Perspectives in Practice. Canadian Scholars; 2023.
- Affleck E, Murphy T, Williamson T, et al. Interoperability Saves Lives. albertavirtualcare.org; 2023. Accessed March 15, 2025. <u>https://cpsa.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Interoperability-Saves-Lives-Final.</u> <u>pdf</u>



- 49. Jones KH, Laurie G, Stevens L, Dobbs C, Ford DV, Lea N. The other side of the coin: Harm due to the non-use of health-related data. Int J Med Inf. 2017;97:43-51. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.09.010
- 50. Desai T, Ritchie F, Welpton R. Five Safes: Designing Data Access for Research. Unversity of the West of England, Bristol; 2016. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>https://www2.uwe.ac.uk/faculties/BBS/Documents/1601.pdf</u>
- 51. Government of Canada I. Open Science. May 23, 2024. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>https://science.gc.ca/</u> <u>site/science/en/office-chief-science-advisor/open-science</u>
- Black Health Equity Working Group. Engagement, Governance, Access, and Protection (EGAP): A Data Governance Framework for Health Data Collected from Black Communities. blackhealthequity.ca; 2021. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://blackhealthequity.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Report_EGAP_framework.pdf</u>
- 53. Scott K. Data for Public Benefit: Balancing the Risks and Benefits of Data Sharing. Involve, Carnegie UK Trust, Understanding Patient Data; 2018. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>https://understandingpatientdata.</u> <u>org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-04/Data%20for%20public%20good_0.pdf</u>
- 54. Brandt AM. Racism and Research: The Case of the Tuskegee Syphilis Study. Hastings Cent Rep. 1978;8(6):21-29. doi:10.2307/3561468
- 55. CDC. About The Untreated Syphilis Study at Tuskegee. The U.S. Public Health Service Untreated Syphilis Study at Tuskegee. February 13, 2025. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/tuskegee/about/index.html</u>
- 56. Canadian Medical Association. CMA Apology to Indigenous Peoples: Historical and Ethical Review Report. Canadian Medical Association; 2024. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>https://digitallibrary.cma.ca/viewer?file=%2Fmedia%2FDigital_Library_PDF%2F2024%2520CMA%27s%2520apology%2520to%2520I ndigenous%2520Peoples%2520-%2520Historical%2520and%2520ethical%2520review%2520report%25 20EN.pdf#page=1</u>
- 57. United States. National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. cn. The Belmont Report : Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research. [Bethesda, Md.] : The Commission; 1978. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>http://archive.org/details/belmontreportethOOunit</u>
- 58. Canadian Institute for Health Information. CIHI's Draft Health Data Ethics Framework. Ottawa, ON. CIHI; 2024. Accessed March 28, 2025. <u>https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/cihi-draft-health-data-ethics-framework-en.pdf</u>



- 59. National Data Guardian. What Do We Mean by Public Benefit? Evaluating Public Benefit When Health and Adult Social Care Data Is Used for Purposes beyond Individual Care. National Data Guardian; 2022. Accessed March 16, 2025. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/</u> <u>what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-isused-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care</u>
- 60. British Columbia Office of the Human Rights Commissioner. Disaggregated Demographic Data Collection in British Columbia: The Grandmother Perspective; 2020. <u>https://bchumanrights.ca/resources/</u> <u>publications/publication/datacollection/</u>
- 61. What is Information Security | Policy, Principles & Threats | Imperva. Learning Center. Accessed March 15, 2025. <u>https://www.imperva.com/learn/data-security/information-security-infosec/</u>
- 62. National Institute of Standards and Technology. The NIST Cybersecurity Framework (CSF) 2.0. National Institute of Standards and Technology; 2024:NIST CSWP 29. doi:10.6028/NIST.CSWP.29
- 63. Brophy R, Bellavia E, Bluemink MG, et al. Towards a standardised cross-sectoral data access agreement template for research: a core set of principles for data access within trusted research environments. Int J Popul Data Sci. 8(4):2169. doi:10.23889/ijpds.v8i4.2169
- 64. Goldacre B, Morley J. Better, Broader, Safer: Using Health Data for Research and Analysis. A Review Commissioned by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. Department of Health and Social Care.; 2022. Accessed March 15, 2025. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/</u> media/624ea0ade90e072a014d508a/goldacre-review-using-health-data-for-research-and-analysis.pdf
- 65. Government of Canada D of J. Privacy Act Modernization: A Discussion Paper 2. Transparency and accountability: demonstrating the commitment and respect necessary to facilitate trust. August 20, 2019. Accessed March 15, 2025. <u>https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/csj-sjc/pa-lprp/dp-dd/modern_2.html</u>
- 66. Florini A. Introduction. The Battle Over Transparency. In: Florini A, ed. The Right to Know: Transparency for an Open World. Columbia University Press; 2007:1-16. doi:10.7312/flor14158-intro
- 67. Li R, Wang Q, Qu T. Transparency and citizen satisfaction: a meta-analysis and future research agenda. Public Manag Rev. 2023;0(0):1-35. doi:10.1080/14719037.2025.2456658
- Serrano LP, Maita KC, Avila FR, et al. Benefits and Challenges of Remote Patient Monitoring as Perceived by Health Care Practitioners: A Systematic Review. Perm J. 27(4):100-111. doi:10.7812/ TPP/23.022
- 69. Ezeamii VC, Okobi OE, Wambai-Sani H, et al. Revolutionizing Healthcare: How Telemedicine Is Improving Patient Outcomes and Expanding Access to Care. Cureus. 16(7):e63881. doi:10.7759/ cureus.63881



- 70. Tung EL, Press VG, Peek ME. Digital Health Readiness and Health Equity. JAMA Netw Open. 2024;7(9):e2432733. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2024.32733
- 71. Expert Advisory Group on the pan-Canadian Health Data Strategy. Pan-Canadian Health Data Strategy: Charting a Path Toward Ambition: Expert Advisory Group Report 1. Accessed March 23, 2025. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/corporate/mandate/about-agency/ external-advisory-bodies/list/pan-canadian-health-data-strategy-reports-summaries/expert-advisory-groupreport-01-charting-path-toward-ambition/pCHDS-first-EAG-report-en.pdf</u>
- 72. Bubela T, Flood CM, McGrail K, Straus SE, Mishra S. How Canada's decentralised covid-19 response affected public health data and decision making. BMJ. Published online July 24, 2023:e075665. doi:10.1136/bmj-2023-075665
- 73. Canada Health Infoway. Shared Pan-Canadian Interoperability Roadmap. Canada Health Infoway Accessed March 15, 2025. <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/6444-connecting-you-to-modern-health-care-shared-pan-canadian-interoperability-roadmap/view-document?Itemid=101</u>
- 74. Canada H. The Government of Canada introduces the Connected Care for Canadians Act. June 6, 2024. Accessed March 17, 2025. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/news/2024/06/</u> <u>the-government-of-canada-introduces-the-connected-care-for-canadians-act-improving-patients-safety-andaccess-to-their-health-information.html</u>
- 75. McGrail K, Teng J, Bentley C, O'Doherty K, Burgess M. Research data use in a digital society: a deliberative public engagement. Int J Popul Data Sci. 2024;9(1). doi:10.23889/ijpds.v9i1.2372
- 76. OECD. Innovative Citizen Participation and New Democratic Institutions: Catching the Deliberative Wave. OECD; 2020. doi:10.1787/339306da-en
- 77. One London, Ipsos, The King's Fund. Public Eliberation in the Use of Health and Care Data. OneLondon; 2021. Accessed March 23, 2025. <u>https://www.onelondon.online/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Public-deliberation-in-the-use-of-health-and-care-data.pdf</u>
- 78. Braunack-Mayer A, Fabrianesi B, Street J, et al. Sharing Government Health Data With the Private Sector: Community Attitudes Survey. J Med Internet Res. 2021;23(10):e24200. doi:10.2196/24200
- 79. Street J, Fabrianesi B, Adams C, et al. Sharing administrative health data with private industry: A report on two citizens' juries. Health Expect Int J Public Particip Health Care Health Policy. 2021;24(4):1337-1348. doi:10.1111/hex.13268
- 80. Introducing A First Nations Data Governance Strategy. The First Nations Information Governance Centre. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://fnigc.ca/news/introducing-a-first-nations-data-governance-strategy/</u>



- 81. FIrst Nations Information Governance Centre. A First Nations Data Governance Strategy: A Response to Direction Received from First Nations Leadership, Funded through Federal Budget 2018 in Support of the New Fiscal Relationship. First Nations Information Governance Centre Accessed March 6, 2025. https://fnigc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/FNIGC_FNDGS_report_EN_FINAL.pdf
- 82. Corston E, Guéranger G, Lyons D. Exercising rights over data: a journey towards First Nations data sovereignty in Canada. Acta Boreal. 2024;41(2):72-79. doi:10.1080/08003831.2024.2410113
- Martens P, Bartlett J, E Burland, et al. Profile of Metis Health Status and Healthcare Utilization in Manitoba: A Population-Based Study. Manitoba Centre for Health Policy; 2010. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>http://mchp-appserv.cpe.umanitoba.ca/reference/MCHP-Metis_Health_Status_Full_Report_(WEB)_ (update_aug11_2011).pdf</u>
- 84. University of Manitoba. Framework for Research Engagement with First Nation, Metis, and Inuit Peoples. University of Manitoba; 2013. Accessed March 14, 2025. <u>https://umanitoba.ca/ongomiizwin/sites/ongomiizwin/files/2021-04/UofM_Framework_Report_web.pdf</u>
- 85. Kahnawà:ke Schools Diabetes Prevention Program. Code of Research Ethics. www.ksdpp.org; 2023. Accessed March 10, 2025. <u>https://www.ksdpp.org/uploads/1/3/6/4/136499863/ksdpp_code_of_research_ethics-2023_update_2023-01-23_final_corrected_24.01.09_english.pdf</u>
- 86. Clark W, Lavoie JG, Mcdonnell L, et al. Trends in Inuit health services utilisation in Manitoba: findings from the Qanuinngitsiarutiksait study. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2022;81(1):2073069. doi:10.1080/22 423982.2022.2073069
- Lavoie JG, Clark W, McDonnell L, et al. Inuit mental health service utilisation in Manitoba: results from the qanuinngitsiarutiksait study. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2024;83(1):2413228. doi:10.1080/224239 82.2024.2413228
- 88. McDonnell L, Lavoie JG, Clark W, et al. Unforeseen benefits: outcomes of the Qanuinngitsiarutiksait study. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2022;81(1):2008614. doi:10.1080/22423982.2021.2008614
- 89. Walker J, Lovett R, Kukutai T, Jones C, Henry D. Indigenous health data and the path to healing. The Lancet. 2017;390(10107):2022-2023. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32755-1
- 90. McGrail K, Schull MJ, Paprica PA. The public needs to know why health data are used without consent. The Conversation. October 6, 2019. Accessed May 20, 2024. <u>http://theconversation.com/the-public-needs-to-know-why-health-data-are-used-without-consent-123669</u>
- 91. Smith M, Turner K, Bond R, Kawakami T, Roos L. The Concept Dictionary and Glossary at MCHP: Tools and Techniques to Support a Population Research Data Repository. International Journal of Population Data Science. 2019;4(1):1124. doi:10.23889/ijpds.v4i1.1124



- 92. Thayer DS, Mumtaz S, Elmessary MA, et al. Creating a next-generation phenotype library: the health data research UK Phenotype Library. JAMIA Open. 2024;7(2):ooae049. doi:10.1093/jamiaopen/ooae049
- 93. The Anti-Racism Data Act. Accessed March 17, 2025. https://antiracism.gov.bc.ca/data-act/
- 94. Anti-Racism Data Committee Addressing systemic racism in BC. Accessed March 17, 2025. <u>https://antiracism.gov.bc.ca/data-act/anti-racism-data-committee/</u>
- 95. Anti-Racism Data Committee Terms of Reference. Accessed March 17, 2025. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/multiculturalism-anti-racism/anti-racism/anti-racism-hub/anti-racism-data-committee/ard-committee-terms-of-reference-nov-1.pdf</u>
- 96. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Canada's Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research Improving Health Outcomes through Evidence-Informed Care. Canadian Institutes of Health Research Accessed March 17, 2025. <u>https://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/documents/P-O_Research_Strategy-eng.pdf</u>
- 97. Hopkins Van Mil. Putting Good into Practice: A Public Dialogue on Making Public Benefit Assessments When Using Health and Care Data. National Data Guardian; 2021. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/</u> <u>media/6075700dd3bf7f4017cbef72/PGiP_Report_FINAL_1304.pdf</u>
- 98. National Data Guardian. What do we mean by public benefit? Evaluating public benefit when health and adult social care data is used for purposes beyond individual care. Guidance. Accessed March 25, 2025. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/what-do-we-mean-by-public-benefit-evaluating-public-benefit-when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-and-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-care/when-health-adult-social-care-data-is-used-for-purposes-beyond-individual-</u>
- 99. Ipsos MORI. The One-Way Mirror: Public attitudes to commercial access to health data. Wellcome Trust. Published online 2017. doi:https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.5616448.v1
- 100. Data Saves Lives: Reshaping Health and Social Care with Data. Department of Health and Social Care; 2022. Accessed March 17, 2025. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-social-care-with-data/data-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshaping-health-saves-lives-reshap</u>

